

Forest fertilization does not cause any long-term effects on tree growth or vegetation composition

Yixian Chen

Independent project • 30 credits Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, SLU Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences EnvEuro

Forest fertilization does not cause any long-term effects on tree growth or vegetation composition

Yixian Chen

Supervisor:	Joachim Strengbom, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Ecology				
Assistant supervisor:	Anders Michelsen, University of Copenhagen				
Examiner:	Erik Öckinger, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Ecology				
Credits:	30 credits				
Level:	Avanced (A2E)				
Course title:	Master thesis in Environmental Science				
Course code:	EX0897				
Programme/education:	EnvEuro - European Master in Environmental science				
Course coordinating dept:	Department of Aquatic Sciences and Assessment				
Place of publication:	Uppsala				
Year of publication:	2023				
Copyright:	All featured images are used with permission from the copyright				
	owner.				
Keywords:	density, ground vegetation, height, stem radial growth, legacy nitrogen effect, soil total N and C/N ratio, tree				

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Ecology

Abstract

Forest fertilization is considered one of the most effective management options to improve forest productivity. In Fennoscandia, nitrogen (N) fertilization has been practiced for over 50 years and is normally added in the form of granules of NH₄NO₃ at least 15 years prior to the final harvest. In addition to the intended effect of increasing tree productivity, N addition will induce changes in other parts of the forest ecosystem. Such effects include changes in the community composition of plants, insects, and soil fungi. Although many of these effects appear short-lived there are concerns that forest fertilization will induce long-term changes in soil nutrients and associated plant productivity. This study aims to investigate the long-term residual effects of commercial forest fertilization on tree growth and vegetation composition. The experiment was conducted in two regions of Sweden: the northeastern area of Uppsala and the Skinnskatteberg municipalities. It involves 36 forest stands, with half previously fertilized and the other half were unfertilized during the previous forest rotation. It is worth mentioning that these stands were prior to this study clearcut (5-14 years ago). The two forets types were used to evaluate effects of past fertilization. Most data were collected in August 2022, including tree heights, collection of trees cross-sections, vegetation records, and soil samples collection. However, the analysis of the soil data and stem radial growth measurements were conducted at the beginning of 2023. Although tree density, soil N and C/N ratio could affect tree stem radial growth and C/N ratio could influence tree height and density, past fertilization did not affect the radial and vertical growth of trees. Further, there were no differences between fertilized and unfertilized stands in terms of soil N, C/N ratio or on ground vegetation composition. These results suggest that the long-term effects of N fertilization are small or absent, with no major long-term effects on soil N content or vegetation distribution and productivity. The results highlight the resilience and sustainability of forests and provides useful insights for the rational use of fertilization and conservation of forest ecosystems. The forest manager should focus on planning and nutrient management to better balance forest development and promote more sustainable forestry practices.

Keywords: density, ground vegetation, height, stem radial growth, legacy nitrogen effect, soil total N and C/N ratio, tree

Table of contents

List of tables	5
List of figures	6
1.Introduction	7
2. Materials and methods	10
2.1 Description of forest stands	10
2.2 Data collection and preparation	11
2.3 Statistical analysis	13
3. Results	15
4. Discussion	21
4.1 Selection of experimental area	22
4.2 Clearcutting interference	22
4.3 Short duration of residual effects of fertilization after felling	23
4.4 Number and dose of fertilizer applications in the previous rotation	23
5. Conclusion	25
References	26
Popular science summary	28
Acknowledgements	29

List of tables

Table 1. Results of linear model between clear-cutting year and total N, C/N ratio19
Table 2. Results of t-tests for stem radial growth and height of different tree species under fertilized and non-fertilized conditions
Table 3. Results of multiple comparisons of stem radial growth and heights among three tree species (Tukey's HSD test)
Table 4. Results of linear model between soil N, C/N ratio and the mixed tree growth20
Table 5. Results of linear model between soil N, C/N ratio and density

List of figures

Figure 1. Map of the study area in Sweden (A: Skinnskatteberg, B: The northeastern area of Uppsala). Background map: OpenStreetMap. Sites for data collection are indicated by dots in panel A and B. The white dots represent the sites where the clearcut was completed from 2009 to 2013, the orange dots represent the sites where the clearcut was completed from 2014 to 2016, and the red dots represent the sites where the clearcut was completed from 2017 to 2018
Figure 2. Timeline of forest management11
Figure 3. Photography of vegetation survey subplot grid12
Figure 4. Visual experimental setup in one site. The orange circle represents the main plot (r=10m), where recorded ground vegetation and sampled soil. The pink circle represents the smaller plot (r=3m), where the height of the trees were measured and cross sections were taken
Figure 5. Box plot showing species numbers (richness) of ground vegetation in fertilized and unfertilized plots. The line inside each box corresponds to the median value
Figure 6. Box plot showing species diversity of ground vegetation in fertilized and unfertilized plots. The line inside each box corresponds to the median value
Figure 7. PCA of ground vegetation species composition in response to fertilizer application. The dots represent the community composition of ground vegetation in subplots of unfertilized (red) and fertilized (green) forest stands
Figure 8. PCA of ground vegetation species composition in response to clear-cutting year. The dots represent the community composition of ground vegetation in subplots of forest stands clearcut at different years. The color gradient represents the year of
Figure 9. Box plot showing growth rates (stem radial growth) of different tree species under fertilized and unfertilized conditions. The line inside each box corresponds to the median value

1.Introduction

It is well known that forest plays an important role for ecosystem functioning and human well-being globally. With the development of society, people's dependence on forests has also increased, including but not limited to logging activities. As a result, global forest loss has steadily increased in recent decades (Wade et al. 2020). This trend not only threatens the existence of forests but also risks destroying the economic benefits derived from them. This is because the forest has both direct and indirect economic value, including the ability to provide raw materials for paper-making and job vacancies for local people (Berg 2021). Therefore, there are strong incentives to develop sustainable management systems that can ensure the long-term functioning of forests (da Gama e Silva 2022).

In Swedish forest management, the practice of reforestation following harvesting has been established as a legal requirement to promote sustainable forest development (*Swedish Forestry Act* 2022). As a result, the forests in Sweden are predominantly characterized by even-aged stands (Berglund 2021).

Forest fertilization is a cost-effective way to increase forest productivity (Saarsalmi & Mälkönen 2001). In Fennoscandia commercial fertilization is done by adding NH₄NO₃. It is usually accomplished by aerial dispersal of granulated fertilizers. However, the effects of forest fertilization are not limited to affecting production trees. Compared with the lack or imbalance of nutrients that may exist in a similar natural state, fertilizer application balances the nutrients the vegetation needs in the forest and improves the stand's ability to resist external damage from various pests (Saarsalmi & Mälkönen 2001). It also has long-term effects on the forest, both in terms of diversity and composition of the ground vegetation and growth of trees (Pettersson & Högbom 2004; Olsson & Kellner 2006; Strengbom & Nordin 2008, 2012; From & Nordin 2011). The impacts of nitrogen enrichment on ecosystems and their services are widespread, and goes far beyond influencing tree growth (Manning 2012). In Sweden, it is common to use nitrogen fertilizer in forest ecosystems since nitrogen is typically the most growth-limiting nutrient and nitrogen enrichment can result from nitrogen fertilization (Lundin & Nilsson 2021). Nitrogen is transferred among plants, microorganisms, soil organic matter and soil minerals (Zhu et al. 2015). Accordingly, it can directly or indirectly affect forest productivity and composition of the vegetation.

In recent years, the risk of negative side effects of forest fertilization has been controversial in the public domain. Many people are concerned about the environmental and ecological impacts that can result from fertilizer application, including water pollution, wildlife, plants, and so on (Sullivan & Sullivan 2018; Lundin & Nilsson 2021). Researchers confirmed that the residual effect of nitrogen fertilization is persistent for the entire forest, which is beyond one rotation period in forestry (Strengbom & Nordin 2008; From et al. 2015).

Nitrogen deposition refers to the entry of nitrogen elements into forest ecosystems through gas, dry deposition, and wet deposition. Nitrogen deposition accumulation is due to the global emission of nitrogen oxides. It mainly comes from fossil fuel combustion and agriculture (National Atmospheric Deposition Program 2016). Excess nitrogen can stress forest ecosystems, leading to nitrogen saturation and even losses of nitrogen to other ecosystems, thus leading to many negative conditions, such as soil acidification, eutrophication, etc. (Cao et al. 2019; Sung 2020; Verma & Sagar 2020). For Sweden, the rate of nitrogen deposition differs among regions. The deposition decreases from south to north. Thus, although the level of nitrogen deposition is highest in the south, the rate of nitrogen deposition to nitrogen deposition, the use of nitrogen fertilizers is one of the main causes of nitrogen euthrophication.

According to the current research, anthropogenic nitrogen additions is one of the main drivers behind observed changes in the distribution of vegetation types in Swedish forests. Specifically, species that are favoured by shade and have high nutrient demands have expanded on behalf of nutrient-conservative species (Hedwall et al. 2019). Simultaneously, there are researchers who claimed that the proportion of shade tolerant plant species increases during the succession of boreal forest ecosystems (Jonsson et al. 2021). Moreover, according to Bobbink et al. (2010), it seems like nitrogen enrichment of the boreal forest have not resulted in changes in species richness of understory vegetation. However, it does have an impact on species composition. When nitrogen is added, the response of bryophytes is species-specific. Specifically, dominant species like Hylocomium splendens show a decline when the nitrogen addition rate exceeds 10 kg $N \cdot ha^{-1} \cdot yr^{-1}$. On the other hand, species that live in more nutrient-rich habitats, such as Brachythecium spp, tend to increase. As for vascular plant species, the introduction of N leads to an increase in fast-growing graminoids and herbs, while slow-growing species such as ericaseous dwarf shrubs experience a decline (Bobbink et al. 2010).

Based on the above, the residual impacts of nitrogen fertilization on forests deserve to be studied. Thus, in this paper, the impacts will be further explored and provide references and recommendations for the future sustainability of forests.

In order to evaluate whether the long-term residual effect of past nitrogen enrichment interferes with the distribution and abundance of vegetation in the forest, and to study whether it can generate legacy effects on tree growth that extends across forest generations, I compared forest stands, which have been commercially fertilized and unfertilized stands in the previous forest rotation. To evaluate the long-term effects, I compared stands that were fertilized at least 15 years before they were clear-felled. If I cannot find any significant differences between fertilized and unfertilized stands, then it indicates that the effect of forest fertilization is limited to one generation of forests. Conversely, if there are differences, this suggests that effects have carried over to the next generation of forests. In detail, the following hypotheses will be tested:

- 1. In the forest, past fertilization increases the soil N content, and decreases C/N ratio.
- 2. Past fertilization induces changes in the abundance of the ground vegetation. The abundance of slow-growing nitrogen-conservative plants, such as *ericaceous dwarf shrubs*, is lower, but as nitrogen enrichment favors fast-growing plants such as *graminoids* and *herbs*, their abundance is higher.
- 3. Legacy effects of fertilization in the previous forest rotation are indicated by higher growth of the trees (greater tree height and greater stem radial growth).

2. Materials and methods

2.1 Description of forest stands

The research was conducted in two regions in Sweden: the northeastern area of Uppsala (between $59.79-60.04^{\circ}$ N, $17.75-18.19^{\circ}$ E) and the Skinnskatteberg region (between $59.68-59.87^{\circ}$ N, $15.47-16.28^{\circ}$ E), as Fig.1.



Fig. 1: Map of the study area in Sweden (A: Skinnskatteberg, B: The northeastern area of Uppsala). Background map: OpenStreetMap. Sites for data collection are indicated by the dots in panel A and B. The white dots represent the sites where the clearcut was completed from 2009 to 2013, the orange dots represent the sites where the clearcut was completed from 2014 to 2016, and the red dots represent the sites where the clearcut was completed from 2017 to 2018.

To investigate the long-term residual effects of commercial forest fertilization, I used 18 forest stands that had not been fertilized in the previous forest generation, and 18 stands that had been previously fertilized on one occasion with an N dose corresponding to 150 kg N ha⁻¹ (=15 g N/m²) to improve forest productivity. Nitrogen was added as granulated ammonium nitrate (NH₄NO₃) at least 15 years prior to the clearcutting. All the forest stands were mixed coniferous forests with some deciduous trees, mainly birch. The tree layer was dominated by either Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) or Norway spruce (*Picea abies*). Then, during the period of 2009-2018, the forests were clearcut and replanted with Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) and Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*), the two birch species (*Betula pendula*, *Betula pubescens*) spontaneously appeared on the clearcuts. The vegetation consisted of multiple layers, with mosses and lichens covering the soil, vascular plants growing above them, and the tree layer as the highest layer (refer to Fig.2 for a visual timeline).



Fig.2. Timeline of forest management

2.2 Data collection and preparation

In August 2022, most of data were collected within three circular plots with a 10 m radius (main plots) at each forest site. Vegetation was separated into two categories, tree (>1.2m) and ground vegetation (<1.2m). The vegetation composition below 1.2 m was assessed in 6 plots sized 0.5 by 0.5 m within each main plot. To assess vegetation composition, the presence or absence of species within 25 subplots of each of the 0.5 by 0.5 plots (Fig.3 and Fig.4), resulting in a frequency ranging from 0 to 25. All vascular plant species were recorded individually and collectively, while lichens and mosses were recorded only as species groups.



Fig.3. Photography of vegetation survey subplot grid

25 soil cores (diameter=2.5 cm) were taken on grounds not directly influenced by soil scarification in each main plot evenly (Fig.4). The depth of soil sample collection was independent across plots, only the organic layer was collected and combined to form one composite soil sample per plot. The samples were stored on ice and then transferred to a freezer. Subsequently, subsamples were obtained by freeze-drying and passing through a 1 mm sieve, their carbon and nitrogen concentrations were determined by an elemental analyser (TruMac CN; LECO). Thus, the C/N ratio could be calculated.

Frozen soil samples were used for pH analyses in the experiment. 25 mL of deionized water was added to each sample, and they were shaken on a shaker at 650 rpm for 30 minutes at room temperature to ensure complete suspension. Later, the mixture was equilibrated with atmospheric CO_2 for 15 minutes before measuring the pH with a pH meter.

The height measurements of the trees (>60 cm tall) were done in smaller subplots to ensure the feasibility of measurement, specifically within circular plots of a radius 3m (with the same centers as the 10 m radius plot) at each stand (Fig.4). Moreover, for the oldest clearcuts (logged between 2009 and 2015), three trees per species in each plot were cut to assess stem radial growth. The decision to sample trees only in the oldest clearings and not include additional data was not intended to improve accuracy but was rather since the trees in the younger clearings had not yet matured sufficiently for tree-ring analysis. The specific years of the trees first felling were also recorded.

After cutting the cross-sections of the trees were brought to the lab for further processing. Afterward, they were carefully dried at room temperature to avoid

being cracked and remove excess moisture to prevent mold formation. They were also sanded with the fine sandpaper to create a smooth flat surface to improve the visibility of the tree rings. Finally, the cross-sections were scanned with a scanner and the growth rates were measured manually from the scanned images by *ImageJ* software.



Fig. 4: Visual experimental setup in one site. The orange circle represents the main plot (r=10m), where recorded ground vegetation and sampled soil. The pink circle represents the smaller plot (r=3m), where the height of the trees were measured and cross sections were taken.

2.3 Statistical analysis

In this study, the analyses were conducted at the main plot level, with each stand consisting of three main plots. The data from the subplots within each main plot were aggregated and treated as representative of the respective main plot. The study had three replicates in each site. The 36 stands were divided into two groups, with half of the stands subjected to fertilization and the other half serving as the control without fertilization. All analyses were performed using the R.

To examine the differences in tree growth (stem radial growth and height) among different tree species, *one-way analysis of variance* (ANOVA) was conducted, followed by *Tukey's honestly significant difference* (HSD) test for pairwise comparisons between each pair of tree species.

The diversity of ground vegetation species was quantified using the Shannon index (H) at the main plot level. The Shannon index is widely used to decide species abundance and richness in ecological studies. The Shannon diversity index can be calculated as: $H = -\Sigma p_i * \ln(p_i)$, where p_i is the proportion of the entire community made up of species (Es'haghi Rad et al. 2009). Meanwhile, *Principal Component Analysis* (PCA) was used to describe ground vegetation composition. Two-sample t-tests were used to compare soil conditions (soil pH, N, C/N ratio), ground vegetation characteristics (species number and Shannon index), tree height and density between the fertilized and unfertilized forests.

In the analysis, the average height of trees in each plot was used, which was calculated by summing the heights of all trees in the plot and then divided them by the number of trees. Additionally, the density of trees in each plot was calculated as the total number of trees.

Besides, linear models were developed to investigate the impact of clearcut year on pH levels, the association between pH levels and tree growth, the relationship between tree density and height, and the effect of soil N, and C/N ratio on both tree growth and density. Additionally, the influence of clearcut year on soil N, and C/N ratio was also evaluated.

3. Results

In the study area, the tree layer, defined as vegetation above 1.2m, consisted of *Betula pendula*, *Betula pubescens*, *Picea abies* and *Pinus sylvestris*. The understory vegetation, defined as vegetation below 1.2m, consisted of vascular plants, mosses and lichens, with the vascular plants dominated by grasses and ericoid plants. Because *Betula pendula* and *Betula pubescens* both belong to birch, they were grouped together and referred to as *Betula* sp.

The soil collected from the area was acidic, with pH levels ranging from 3.5 to 5.0. The average N content was 1.05 kg N/m² (=1050 g N/m²) and the average C/N ratio was 29.96. Based on the results, there was no considerable difference in pH between fertilized and unfertilized (p_1 =0.72, df_1=105.8). And clear-cutting year was analyzed that it was not highly associated with soil pH (p_1 =0.2).

To test the hypothesis that past fertilization increases soil quality, a comparison was made between the soil N and C/N ratio of clearcuts in fertilized and unfertilized forests. However, the levels of N and C/N ratio in the soil were not substantially different in the fertilized and unfertilized forests ($p_1=0.74$, $df_1=105.91$; $p_2=0.97$, $df_2=104.36$). Moreover, neither soil N concentration nor C/N ratio was correlated to time since clear-cutting (Table 1).

The ground vegetation was heavily dominated by common vascular plants. *Deschampsia flexuosa* (77.5%), *Vaccinium vitis-idaea* (64.7%), *Vaccinium myrtillus* (60.8%), *Calluna vulgaris* (40.6%) and *Pinus sylvestris* (19.6%) were the most abundant species. Moss cover corresponded to 74.3%, while the share of lichens was 11.0%. My results showed that there was no significant difference in species number between fertilized and unfertilized stands (Fig.5; p=0.2, df=106). Similarly, there was no difference in Shannon diversity index between fertilized and unfertilized stands (Fig.6; p=0.56, df=106). In other words, there were no signs of legacy effects from past fertilization on ground vegetation species richness or Shannon diversity index.

Potential differences in plant community composition were assessed by PCA. The study also investigated the effects of time since clear-cutting and fertilization on the community composition of ground vegetation. The results showed that there was no difference in plant composition that could be linked to past fertilization or time since clear-cutting (Fig.7 and 8).



Fig.5. Box plot showing species numbers (richness) of ground vegetation in fertilized and unfertilized plots. The line inside each box corresponds to the median value.



Fig.6. Box plot showing species diversity of ground vegetation in fertilized and unfertilized plots. The line inside each box corresponds to the median value.



Fig.7. PCA of ground vegetation species composition in response to fertilizer application. The dots represent the community composition of ground vegetation in subplots of unfertilized (red) and fertilized (green) forest stands.



Fig.8. PCA of ground vegetation species composition in response to clear-cutting year. The dots represent the community composition of ground vegetation in subplots of forest stands clearcut at different years. The color gradient represents the year of clearcutting, from dark blue to light blue from 2009 to 2018.

To study stem radial growth, 150 *Pinus sylvestris*, 128 *Picea abies* and 128 *Betula* sp. were sampled. Additionally, the height of 407 trees was measured among them. There were no significant differences in stem radial growth or height between unfertilized and fertilized stands for *Pinus sylvestris* and *Picea abies*, as well as in stem radial growth for *Betula* sp. However, a marginal significance was observed in the height difference between the unfertilized and fertilized stands for *Betula* sp. (Fig.9 and 10, Table 2). Likewise, when analyzed for mixed species, there was no apparent height variation between fertilization and unfertilized (p=0.74, df=102.54).

To test this, ANOVA was used to analyze the tree species. The results revealed that growth differed among the three species (stem radial growth: F=5.58, Pr=0.01; height: F=18.67, Pr=1.76e-08). To further test which tree species were actually different from each other, *Tukey's HSD* tests were performed (Table 3). There were no significant differences in the height between *Pinus sylvestris* and *Picea abies*, and in the stem radial growth between *Pinus sylvestris* and *Betula* sp. But *Betula* sp. grows significantly taller and faster than *Picea abies*. Additionally, *Betula* sp. grows taller than *Pinus sylvestris*, while *Pinus sylvestris* grows faster than *Picea abies*. In brief, the stem radial growth and height of *Picea abies* and *Betula* sp., the height of *Pinus sylvestris* and *Betula* sp., as well as the stem radial growth of *Pinus sylvestris* and *Picea abies*.

Stem radial growth and height of trees were not correlated with soil pH ($p_1=0.68$, $p_2=0.59$). Regarding soil nutrients, Table 4 provided information indicating weak negative effects of total N and C/N ratio on stem radial growth. Besides, in terms of height, only the C/N ratio showed a weak negative correlation. The low R-squared values suggested that total N content in the soil was a poor predictor of the trees' stem radial growth. When the total N content in the soil increases, there might be a tendency for a decrease in the trees' stem radial growth. Similarly, an increase in the C/N ratio could be associated with a decrease in both stem radial growth and height of the trees.

Besides, tree density did not significantly differ after fertilization (p=0.38, df=104.29), but it had a strong positive correlation with average tree height (p=6.64e-09, k=0.26, R-squared=0.28). Furthermore, there was a negative correlation between soil C/N ratio and tree density (Table 5), with low R-squared value.



Fig.9. Box plot showing growth rates (stem radial growth) (cm) of different tree species under fertilized and unfertilized conditions. The line inside each box corresponds to the median value.



Fig.10. Box plot showing heights(cm) of different tree species under fertilized and unfertilized conditions. The line inside each box corresponds to the median value.

Table 1: Results of linear model between clear-cutting year and total N, C/N ratio.					
Soil parameter	Slope	R-squared	F -statistics	p-value	
Total N	2.47	0.02	3.32	0.07	
C/N ratio	1.4e-01	0.01	2.58	0.11	

. . . *a a a*

Types of trees	Tree growth	t	df	n-value
Betula sp	stem radial growth	0.89	103 53	0.38
Detutu sp.	haiaht	1.06	105.55	0.58
	neight	1.96	125.79	0.03
Pinus sylvestris	stem radial growth	0.24	147.21	0.81
	height	-0.54	139.96	0.59
Picea abies	stem radial growth	-0.29	120.9	0.77
	height	-1.19	124.79	0.24

Table 2: Results of t-tests for stem radial growth and height of different tree species under fertilized and non-fertilized conditions

Table 3: Results of multiple comparisons of stem radial growth and heights among three tree species (Tukey's HSD test).

Species group	Tree growth	Mean	95% confidence		р
		difference	inte	rval	-
			Lower	Upper	
			Bound	Bound	
Picea abies~Betula sp.	stem radial growth	-0.02	-0.04	-0.001	0.04
	height	-66.08	-97.07	-35.09	0.0000024
Pinus sylvestris~Betula sp.	stem radial growth	0.01	-0.01	0.02	0.81
	height	-71.04	-100.92	-41.15	0.0000001
Pinus sylvestris~Picea abies	stem radial growth	0.03	0.01	0.05	0.004
	height	-4.96	-34.78	24.87	0.92

Table 4: Results of linear model between soil N, C/N ratio and the mixed tree growth.

Soil parameter	Tree growth	slope	R-squared	F-statistics	p-value
Total N	stem radial growth	-0.04	0.01	6.39	0.01
	height	-0.001	0.01	2.43	0.12
C/N ratio	stem radial growth	-0.004	0.04	19.43	1.34e-05
	height	-0.02	0.09	11	0.001

Table 5: Results of linear model between soil N, C/N ratio and density.

Soil parameter	Slope	R-squared	F-statistics	p-value
Total N	-0.001	0.003	0.72	0.4
C/N ratio	-0.03	0.06	7.56	0.01

4. Discussion

Above all, it can be seen from the results that past nitrogen fertilization did not improve soil nutrients status in the form of %N and C/N ratio in the following forestry cycle, nor did it affect ground vegetation, which are contrary to the original hypothesis. Compared to previous findings, the legacy effects of past fertilization are generally weak or completely lacking from the study sites included here and this is an interesting and important result.

The study conducted by From et al. (2015) was done in the middle boreal zone in central Sweden, hence latitude is higher than my study. The primary focus of their study was to compare tree growth, needle nitrogen concentration, and the availability of mobile nitrogen in a 10-year-old forest stand. Fertilized and control groups were selected from sites that had received fertilization once or twice during the previous forest rotation, as well as unfertilized sites. According to the findings of their study, previous fertilized two-times resulted in an increase in tree height. However, those fertilized once were not found to be significantly different from those that were not fertilized. This is consistent with the results of my study. They also observed that fertilization during the previous forest rotation had long-term residual effects on the nitrogen dynamics of the forest stand, surpassing the influence of a single rotation. However, the result differs from the findings of my study, which indicated that fertilization did not have an impact on tree growth. The research by Strengbom & Nordin (2012) was also conducted in central Sweden. The research compared the effects of clear-cutting with nitrogen fertilization, clearcutting without fertilization, mature forest with nitrogen fertilization, and mature forest without fertilization. The results revealed that clear-cutting combined with nitrogen had a significant impact on plant community composition, particularly in forests initially exposed to nitrogen addition and subsequent clear-cutting disturbance. The effects varied among plant functional groups. In disturbed forests with nitrogen fertilization, there was an increase in the abundance of graminoids and a decrease in the abundance of understory shrubs. Strengbom & Nordin (2008) did the research in central Sweden. They compared the effects of two times fertilized during the previous rotation with unfertilized forests. The results showed that the fertilized forests exhibited denser ground vegetation, lower species evenness and reduced biodiversity. The abundance of understory shrubs decreased, whereas grasses and certain nitrophilous herbaceous plants increased in abundance. Their study also indicated a preference for moss species that thrive on woody debris and leaf litter, while Hylocomium splendens and ground-living lichens were less favored. These findings contrast with my research results, as fertilization in the previous rotation did not affect the abundance and composition of ground vegetation after clearcutting and replanting.

Given these diverse findings, it is evident that the effects of past fertilization on tree growth and ground vegetation were influenced by various factors, including specific site characteristics (coordinates of latitude and longitude), as well as the fertilization pattern. My research results do not support significant impacts of fertilization on tree growth and ground vegetation as the other researchers, but it emphasizes the need for further studies to explore the complex relationships within forest ecosystems. I will discuss the factors below that could contribute to these differences and propose directions for improvement.

4.1 Selection of experimental area

The forest area in my study belongs to the hemi-boreal forest in Sweden, while earlier studies examining potential long-term effects of forest fertilization have been conducted in the middle-boreal zone, which is located between southern boreal to northern boreal zones (Jonsson et al. 2021, fig.1), like Strengbom & Nordin's study in 2008. In addition to differences in basic latitude and longitude, the characteristics of forest vegetation in the region are also different. The area I studied belongs to the transition zone between boreal and temperate zones. The vegetation types in the transition zone are richer in species, with higher diversity and potentially higher biomass, both in terms of ground vegetation and trees, compared to other areas. At the same time, for the climatic conditions, the general temperature in the middle-boreal area is relatively low, so coniferous forests may be more predominant in this region. In the hemi-boreal region, the climate is warmer, so there may be a high proportion of deciduous forests. In short, because of different locations, the soil properties are different too. Then the effect produced by the fertilizer application is also different. Furthermore, since the short-term effects of nitrogen addition on forests vary by site (Jörgensen et al. 2021), the longterm effects may also vary by site selection.

4.2 Clearcutting interference

During the forest rotation cycle studied, forest clearcutting was carried out, resulting in significant changes in the ecosystem. Research has shown that clearcutting could have negative impacts on both above- and below-ground biota in the forest. For example, the fungi that maintain soil health may be disrupted, which can further lead to the breakdown of nutrient cycling in the soil and ultimately affect the growth of vegetation (Hartmann et al. 2012; Hasby 2022). Additionally, studies have confirmed that soil structure could be damaged as a result of clearcutting, which can disturb the soil organic matter and nutrient cycles to varying degrees

(Siebers & Kruse 2019). Therefore, it can be argued that clearcutting may offset the nutrients required for plant growth, which could explain why there was no significant difference in growth before and after past fertilization.

4.3 Short duration of residual effects of fertilization after felling

A model was established in the experimental results to examine the relationship between clear-cutting time and total N and C/N ratio in the soil. According to the model results, it was found that in areas where clear-cutting occurred earlier, the soil had lower N content and C/N ratio. Although the p-value of the model was higher than 0.05, indicating it did not reach statistical significance, it is still worth considering the possibility of this relationship. During the data collection process, it was noted that the clear-cutting time was recorded from 2009 to 2018, while the soil data was collected in 2022. Due to the relatively long-time interval, it is possible that the residual effects of fertilization had already disappeared, which may have caused the effect missing. In other words, the residual effects of fertilization after clear-cutting did not last for a long time. This situation may explain why the model results show lower N content and C/N ratio in areas with earlier clear-cutting records.

4.4 Number and dose of fertilizer applications in the previous rotation

In the study by From et al. (2015), they compared stands that had been fertilized twice, once, and unfertilized in the previous rotation cycle. In terms of tree height. The results showed no significant difference in average tree height between stands fertilized once in the previous cycle and the control group. This may indicate that a single fertilization application (corresponding to 150 kg N ha⁻¹) had relatively little effect on tree growth. However, it was noticed that in the trees that were fertilized twice, they were significantly taller than the other groups. This suggests that multiple fertilization may have a positive effect on tree growth in the forest generation that preceeds the one fertilized. This may be due to the fact that multiple fertilization provided more nutrients, met the growth needs of the trees, and promoted the increase in their growth rate and height.

Besides, the total N content tested in the soil in this study was 1050 g N/m², but the fertilization was only 15 g N/m², so it might be difficult to detect the residual effect of fertilization on the total soil N in the experiment. Therefore, it is difficult

to judge whether fertilization had an effect on the total N content in the soil. In follow-up experiments, it may be considered to increase the amount of fertilization.

In conclusion, the frequency or dose of fertilizer application seems to play an important role in influencing tree growth. Future research should further explore the relationship between fertilizer application times (and dose-response) and tree growth, make further adjustments to analyze the long-term residual effects of nitrogen.

Although the initial hypotheses were rejected, other factors were discovered in the experiment that better explain differences in vegetation growth. I found that soil N and C/N ratio might influence the tree radial growth and the tree height and density might be affected by soil C/N ratio. Besides, tree density could influence the trees' average height. Compared with other influencing factors, the impact of tree density was the most significant. It meant that the higher the density of trees, the higher the average height of trees. From my point of view, when tree density increases, the competitions among the trees became fiercer. High density stimulates vertical growth of trees (Tymińska-Czabańska et al. 2022). The reason for this is because to grow better, the canopy of the tree would become smaller, and the trunk would become longer to compete for sunlight and water. So, in the case of high tree density, the average height of trees in forests will become higher.

Moreover, for the effect of tree species on tree stem radial growth and height, ANOVA analysis showed there was a relationship between tree species and growth, but *HSD* again found that the relationship was insignificant for some individual groups, particularly in the comparison of height between *Pinus sylvestris* and *Picea abies*, and in the comparison of stem radial growth between *Pinus sylvestris* and *Betula* sp. The results were contradictory, so it cannot be determined that tree species is a factor affecting growth, and further experiments are needed in the future to confirm this relationship.

In summary, in future research, the experimental area and site conditions can be changed to be explored. Experiments could include fertilizing more than one time or increase the dose in previous forest rotation to find much clearer result. At the same time, the length of time interval between clearcutting and soil collection needed to be controlled carefully. In addition, a more in-depth analysis of the tree species involved in this study could be conducted to understand the effects of different tree species on the study results. These initiatives help to further refine the findings of this study.

5. Conclusion

This paper studied the long-term effects of nitrogen enrichment from past fertilization on forest vegetation growth. The residual effects of fertilization on tree growth and ground vegetation composition were not found, so the effect in this study was limited to one generation of forest.

The results did not support the hypotheses that legacy nitrogen effect changed soil N and C/N, ground vegetation distribution and growth of trees. However, it was found that C/N ratio and density were weakly negatively correlated. In addition, the growth rate of forest trees can be explained by tree density, N and C/N ratio, whereas the height of trees can be explained by C/N ratio. The results of the study help to verify the effect of past fertilization on forest vegetation and provide a reference for potential future forest management to reorient management direction. Past fertilization for these areas cannot make large effect in one forest rotation cycle. Future forest management strategies should focus on other factors, such as soil quality and so on to promote sustainable forest growth and management.

Nevertheless, there are limitations in this study, future studies needed to be expanded to determine if the effects of latitude and longitude are involved, since residual nitrogen not present in the study area might have a stronger impact on forests. The time interval between logging and the next forest cycle soil data collection needs attention to prevent missed impacts. Last but not least, the control group should be considered to increase in the follow-up study. These control groups consist of increasing the frequency and dosage of fertilization in the previous forest rotation, in order to obtain more complete conclusions on the residual long-term effects of fertilizer application. In addition, whether tree species is a factor affecting growth is still unknown.

In short, for the legacy effect of fertilization still needed to be explored in different areas and consider more factors. From the perspective of environmental pollution and fertilization legacy, the experimental results show that fertilization had no long-term impact on forest vegetation. This means that forest ecosystems are able to return to their natural state after long-term fertilization without negative lasting effects. This finding highlights the resilience and sustainability of forests and provides useful insights for rational use of fertilization and conservation of forest ecosystems. It is important to plan rationally, maximizing forest growth benefits.

References

- Berg, L. (2021). A Forest Economy for the Future: Generating Social and Economic Dividends From More Sustainable, Circular Sources. Dalberg. https://dalberg.com/our-ideas/a-forest-economy-for-the-future-deriving-realsocial-and-economic-dividends-from-more-sustainable-circular-sources/ [2023-05-01]
- Berglund, E. (2021). The cycle of forestry Swedish Forest Industries Federation. https://www.forestindustries.se/forest-industry/forest-management/the-cycle-offorestry/ [2023-05-15]
- Binkley, D. & Högberg, P. (2016). Tamm Review: Revisiting the influence of nitrogen deposition on Swedish forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 368, 222–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.02.035
- Bobbink, R., Hicks, K., Galloway, J., Spranger, T., Alkemade, R., Ashmore, M., Bustamante, M., Cinderby, S., Davidson, E., Dentener, F., Emmett, B., Erisman, J.-W., Fenn, M., Gilliam, F., Nordin, A., Pardo, L. & De Vries, W. (2010). Global assessment of nitrogen deposition effects on terrestrial plant diversity: a synthesis. *Ecological Applications*, 20 (1), 30–59. https://doi.org/10.1890/08-1140.1
- Cao, R., Chen, S., Yoshitake, S. & Ohtsuka, T. (2019). Nitrogen Deposition and Responses of Forest Structure to Nitrogen Deposition in a Cool-Temperate Deciduous Forest. *Forests*, 10 (8), 631. https://doi.org/10.3390/f10080631
- Es'haghi Rad, J., Manthey, M. & Mataji, A. (2009). Comparison of plant species diversity with different plant communities in deciduous forests. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 6. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03326077
- From, F. & Nordin, A. (2011). Residual effects from commercial forest fertilization on tree growth. Boreal forests in a changing world: challenges and needs for actions, Proceedings of the international conference, August 15-21 2011, Krasnoyarsk, Russia, 314–318
- From, F., Strengbom, J. & Nordin, A. (2015). Residual Long-Term Effects of Forest Fertilization on Tree Growth and Nitrogen Turnover in Boreal Forest. *Forests*, 6 (4), 1145–1156. https://doi.org/10.3390/f6041145
- da Gama e Silva, Z.A.G.P. (2022). Economic aspects of the demand for commercial Forest land in the state of Acre, Brazil. *Forest Policy and Economics*, 138, 102704. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2022.102704
- Hartmann, M., Howes, C.G., VanInsberghe, D., Yu, H., Bachar, D., Christen, R., Henrik Nilsson, R., Hallam, S.J. & Mohn, W.W. (2012). Significant and persistent impact of timber harvesting on soil microbial communities in Northern coniferous forests. *The ISME Journal*, 6 (12), 2199–2218. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2012.84
- Hasby F. (2022). Impacts of clear-cutting on soil fungal communities and their activities in boreal forests - A metatranscriptomic approach. *Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae*, (2022:11). https://res.slu.se/id/publ/115772 [2023-05-08]
- Hedwall, P.-O., Gustafsson, L., Brunet, J., Lindbladh, M., Axelsson, A.-L. & Strengbom, J. (2019). Half a century of multiple anthropogenic stressors has altered northern forest understory plant communities. *Ecological Applications*, 29 (4), e01874. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.1874
- Jonsson, B.G., Dahlgren, J., Ekström, M., Esseen, P.-A., Grafström, A., Ståhl, G. & Westerlund, B. (2021). Rapid Changes in Ground Vegetation of Mature Boreal

Forests—An Analysis of Swedish National Forest Inventory Data. *Forests*, 12 (4), 475. https://doi.org/10.3390/f12040475

- Jörgensen, K., Granath, G., Lindahl, B.D. & Strengbom, J. (2021). Forest management to increase carbon sequestration in boreal Pinus sylvestris forests. *Plant and Soil*, 466 (1), 165–178. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-021-05038-0
- Lundin, L. & Nilsson, T. (2021). Duration of forest fertilization effects on streamwater chemistry in a catchment in central Sweden. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 496, 119450. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2021.119450
- Manning, P. (2012). The Impact of Nitrogen Enrichment on Ecosystems and Their Services. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199575923.003.0022
- National Atmospheric Deposition Program (2016). *NITROGEN FROM THE ATMOSPHERE*. https://nadp.slh.wisc.edu/wpcontent/uploads/2021/05/nitrogenAtmos.pdf
- Olsson, B.A. & Kellner, O. (2006). Long-term effects of nitrogen fertilization on ground vegetation in coniferous forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 237 (1), 458–470. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2006.09.068
- Pettersson, F. & Högbom, L. (2004). Long-term Growth Effects Following Forest Nitrogen Fertilization in Pinus sylvestris and Picea abies Stands in Sweden. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 19 (4), 339–347. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827580410030136
- Saarsalmi, A. & Mälkönen, E. (2001). Forest Fertilization Research in Finland: A Literature Review. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 16 (6), 514–535. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827580152699358
- Siebers, N. & Kruse, J. (2019). Short-term impacts of forest clear-cut on soil structure and consequences for organic matter composition and nutrient speciation: A case study. *PLoS ONE*, 14 (8), e0220476. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0220476
- Strengbom, J. & Nordin, A. (2008). Commercial forest fertilization causes long-term residual effects in ground vegetation of boreal forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 256 (12), 2175–2181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2008.08.009
- Strengbom, J. & Nordin, A. (2012). Physical disturbance determines effects from nitrogen addition on ground vegetation in boreal coniferous forests. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 23 (2), 361–371. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2011.01359.x
- Sullivan, T.P. & Sullivan, D.S. (2018). Influence of nitrogen fertilization on abundance and diversity of plants and animals in temperate and boreal forests. *Environmental Reviews*, 26 (1), 26–42. https://doi.org/10.1139/er-2017-0026
- Sung, T. (2020). Excessive Nitrogen Levels Threaten Forests. European Wilderness Society. https://wilderness-society.org/excessive-nitrogen-levels-threaten-forests/ [2023-05-03]
- Swedish Forestry Act (2022). https://www.skogsstyrelsen.se/globalassets/lag-ochtillsyn/skogsvardslagen/skogsvardslagstiftningen-2022.pdf
- Tymińska-Czabańska, L., Hawryło, P. & Socha, J. (2022). Assessment of the effect of stand density on the height growth of Scots pine using repeated ALS data. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation*, 108, 102763. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2022.102763
- Verma, P. & Sagar, R. (2020). Effect of nitrogen (N) deposition on soil-N processes: a holistic approach. *Scientific Reports*, 10 (1), 10470. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-67368-w
- Wade, C.M., Austin, K.G., Cajka, J., Lapidus, D., Everett, K.H., Galperin, D., Maynard, R.
 & Sobel, A. (2020). What Is Threatening Forests in Protected Areas? A Global Assessment of Deforestation in Protected Areas, 2001–2018. *Forests*, 11 (5), 539. https://doi.org/10.3390/f11050539
- Zhu, X., Zhang, W., Chen, H. & Mo, J. (2015). Impacts of nitrogen deposition on soil nitrogen cycle in forest ecosystems: A review. Acta Ecologica Sinica, 35 (3), 35– 43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chnaes.2015.04.004

Popular science summary

Forests play a crucial role in the world, offering benefits such as climate regulation, wind protection, and a source of raw materials. In a world of population explosion, forests are becoming increasingly important. One effective way to enhance their productivity is through forest fertilization, commonly using nitrogen in Sweden. At the same time, nitrogen is also increasing. The subject of this study is to explore the residual effects of nitrogen fertilization in forests on tree growth and ground vegetation composition. The study involved two forest rotation cycles and was carried out in the hemi-boreal forest in the northeastern area of Uppsala and the Skinnskatteberg region in Sweden.

By comparing unfertilized stands with those fertilized during the first rotation, analyze whether residual effects of fertilization could disturb the forest ecosystem. The results revealed that the residual effects of nitrogen fertilization had no significant impact on tree growth and ground vegetation distribution. However, forest density, total nitrogen content in the soil, and carbon-to-nitrogen ratio influenced stem radial tree growth. Carbon-to-nitrogen ratio influenced tree height and density. Moreover, the influence of tree species on growth differences remains unclear and requires further investigation.

Although this study suggests that the residual effects of nitrogen fertilization do not significantly affect forest growth, it highlights the importance of considering other factors for promoting sustainable forest growth. This provides valuable insights into forest sustainability for the general public.

Acknowledgements

I would like to take this opportunity to thank some people who gave me invaluable help during my thesis project.

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor, Professor Strengbom, who led me through all stages of writing this thesis. During the writing, he gave me a lot of constructive suggestions. my thesis has undergone multiple revisions, each time refining its quality and clarity. My scientific writing skills have further improved. Without his consistently inspiring guidance, this thesis would not have been able to get where it is today.

I would also like to extend my sincere appreciation to Ph.D. student Margaux for her invaluable assistance in providing data and aiding me with the writing process. Her guidance proved instrumental when I encountered challenges in analyzing the data, and I am deeply grateful for her support throughout.

I also greatly appreciate my co-supervisor, examiner, and opponent for their help during the development of the work plan and the improvement of my thesis.

Finally, I am deeply grateful for the support of everyone around me during the study, willing to discuss with me and provide valuable insights. I am deeply grateful for their encouragement and support, which has been instrumental in overcoming challenges.

Once again, I extend my sincerest thanks to all those who have contributed to the completion of my thesis.

Publishing and archiving

Approved students' theses at SLU are published electronically. As a student, you have the copyright to your own work and need to approve the electronic publishing. If you check the box for **YES**, the full text (pdf file) and metadata will be visible and searchable online. If you check the box for **NO**, only the metadata and the abstract will be visible and searchable online. Nevertheless, when the document is uploaded it will still be archived as a digital file. If you are more than one author, the checked box will be applied to all authors. You will find a link to SLU's publishing agreement here:

• https://libanswers.slu.se/en/faq/228318.

 \checkmark YES, I/we hereby give permission to publish the present thesis in accordance with the SLU agreement regarding the transfer of the right to publish a work.

 \Box NO, I/we do not give permission to publish the present work. The work will still be archived and its metadata and abstract will be visible and searchable.